Wide Dynamic Range, Low Power Dissipation

Optical Preamplifier

for

Wireless Infrared and LAN Communications

by

Sharon Goldberg

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF BACHELOR OF APPLIED SCIENCE

DIVISION OF ENGINEERING SCIENCE

FACULTY OF APPLIED SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING UNIVERSITY OF TORONTO

Supervisor: K. Phang April 2003

ABSTRACT

The challenge of creating inexpensive links for wireless infrared and optical local area networks (LANs) is driving new innovations in the design of optical transceivers. The low-cost, ad hoc nature of these links means that low power dissipation and wide dynamic range are critical design requirements for the preamplifier stage of the receivers.

To meet these requirements, this thesis presents and compares four new preamplifier topologies. We first develop a means of varying the gain of a traditional preamplifier via non-linear clamping. We then devise methods to allow the traditional preamplifier to process signal currents on the order of its bias currents. To this end, we introduce a shunting technique that limits the photocurrent flowing into the amplifier, as well as two topologies that dynamically vary the preamplifier bias currents according to signal conditions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Professor Khoman Phang, for his invaluable guidance and support throughout this thesis. I would also like to acknowledge Sean Nicolson for his helpful advice, great ideas and assistance that went above and beyond what I could have expected from a graduate student that I met at the Reservoir Lounge.

I would also like to thank my parents for supporting and encouraging me throughout my time at the University of Toronto, and my friends and classmates for making the past four years such a valuable and rewarding experience. For my grandfather.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INTI	RODUCTION	. 1
	1.1	Overview	. 1
	1.2	Design Goals and Specifications	. 3
	1.3	Review of Transimpedance Amplifier Designs	. 5
	1.4	Thesis Outline	. 6
2	BAC	KGROUND	. 8
	2.1	Conceptual Circuit Topology	. 8
	2.1	Stability	. 8
	2.2	Single-Ended Design	10
	2.3	Fully Differential Design	11
	2.4	Limitations of the Traditional Design	13
3	THE	CLAMPING DESIGN	15
	3.1	Motivation	15
	3.2	Implementation	15
	3.3	Design Details and Simulation Results	17
	3.4	Limitations	21
	3.5	Summary	21
4	THE	SHUNTING DESIGN	23
	4.1	Motivation	23
	4.2	Implementation	23
	4.3	Stability	25
	4.4	Design Details and Simulation Results	25
	4.5	Discussion and Limitations	28
	4.6	Summary	30
5	DYN	JAMIC BIASING	31
	5.1	Motivation	31
	5.2	Dynamic Biasing Using Input Stage	32
	5.2.1	Implementation	32
	5.2.2	2 Small Signal Analysis	34
	5.2.3	Design Details and Simulation Results	35
	5.2.4	Discussion and Limitations	38
	5.2.5	Summary	39
	5.3 Dynamic Biasing Using Output Stage		40
	5.3.1	Implementation	40
	5.3.2	2 Small Signal Analysis	41
	5.3.3	Design Details and Simulation Results	42
	5.3.4	Limitations	49
	5.3.5	Summary	50
6	CON	ICLUSIONS	51
	6.1	Summary	51
	6.2	Future Work	53

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Optical communication link.	2
Figure 1.2 Basic preamplifier topology	3
Figure 1.3 Photodetector equivalent circuit.	4
Figure 2.1 Traditional transimpedance amplifier conceptual circuit topology	8
Figure 2.2 Small signal model used for frequency analysis of the traditional amplifier.	9
Figure 2.3 Single-ended transimpedance amplifier topology and design details.	. 10
Figure 2.4 Open loop frequency response of single-ended preamplifier. The preamplifi	ier
is stable with a phase margin of 758 at a unity gain frequency of 73MHz	. 11
Figure 2.5 Fully-differential design topology.	. 12
Figure 2.6 Frequency response of fully differential amplifier.	. 12
Figure 3.1 Single-ended output clamping topology	. 15
Figure 3.2 Fully-differential output clamping topology.	. 16
Figure 3.3 Possible realizations of the diode clamp.	. 16
Figure 3.4 Sweep of currents in feedback resistors versus increasing photocurrent	. 18
Figure 3.5 Transient currents through feedback resistors. 150µA photocurrent input	. 18
Figure 3.6 Output voltage versus increasing photocurrent for clamped and unclamped	
topologies	. 18
Figure 3.7 Output voltage transients for 3uA, 150uA, and 300uA photocurrents for	
clamped and unclamped topologies.	. 19
Figure 3.8 Voltages at the output nodes of the amplifier (v_{out}^+, v_{out}) , common mode	
signal $(v_{out}^+ + v_{out}^-)$, differential signal $(v_{out}^+ - v_{out}^-)$, 130µA photocurrent input	. 20
Figure 4.1 Block diagram of shunting topology (applied to traditional single-ended	•
design).	. 23
Figure 4.2 Shunting topology and design details (for a single-ended design).	. 24
Figure 4.3 Voltage controlled resistor characteristic	26
Figure 4.4 Variation in feedback resistance for a 150uA photocurrent transient at 25M	Hz.
	. 26
Figure 4.5 Sweep of input current, <i>i</i> _{in} , to amplifier versus photocurrent	.27
Figure 4.6 Output voltage transients for 3µA 150µA and 500µA photocurrents at	
25MHz	28
Figure 4.7 Conceptual topology of shunting technique applied to a fully differential	. 20
design	29
Figure 5.1 Dynamic biasing topology This topology uses current mirroring at the inn	. 27 nt
stage	32
Figure 5.2 Small signal half-circuit used for analysis of internal voltage amplifier at	. 52
midhand frequencies	34
Figure 5.3 Open loop frequency response of dynamic biasing scheme	35
Figure 5.4 Differential output voltage transients for 3µA and 150µA photocurrents at 1	67
MHz	36
Figure 5.5 Differential output voltage transients for 300µA and 400µA photocurrents a	. 50 it
16 7MHz	37
Figure 5.6 Differential output voltage transient for 400µA photocurrents at 16.7MHz	. 51
The transimpedance gain of the system was reduced to 2kO in order to reduce	
recovery time	38
	. 50

Figure 5.7 Dynamic biasing topology. This topology uses current mirroring at the output
stage
Figure 5.8 Half-circuit used for analysis of internal voltage amplifier at midband
frequencies
Figure 5.9 Small signal diagram used to determine relationship between v_{gs7} and $v_{gs10.}$. 42
Figure 5.10 Open loop frequency response of dynamic biasing scheme. The system has a
71° phase margin at a unity gain bandwidth of 85MHz
Figure 5.11 Sweep of various parameters versus increasing photocurrent. (a) Currents in
internal transimpedance stage drive transistors (M7a, M7b) and dynamic bias source
transistors (M_{10a} , M_{10b}). Thin lines indicate current in the traditional fully
differential transimpedance amplifier. (b) Currents in sensing transistors (M_{9a}, M_{9b})
(c) Diode clamp current and total internal output current
Figure 5.12 (a) Sweep of X, current-mirroring ratio between M _{7a} and M _{9a} versus
increasing photocurrent. (b) Sweep of currents in dynamic biasing network versus
increasing photocurrent. A constant source biases M _{7b}
Figure 5.13 Differential output voltage transients for 3uA and 150uA photocurrents at
16.7 MHz
Figure 5.14 Differential output transients for 400uA, 700uA and 1.5mA photocurrents at
16.7MHz
Figure 5.15 Differential output transient for 1.5mA photocurrent at 4Mbps 50

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview

The benefits of optical communication, traditionally used to increase the capacity of long-haul networks, are now being brought closer to the end user through technologies such as optical local area networks (LANs), and wireless infrared (IR) communication. Optical LANs use fiber as the physical transmission medium for networks serving resources within a small geographic area, while wireless IR uses free space as a communication channel for short-range, localized networks. Optical communication can bring the benefits of high-speed transmission and isolation from electromagnetic interference to a variety of diverse applications.

Current optical LANs, represented by the Gigabit Ethernet and ATM-PON network specifications, can be used to realize high data rate systems that find their applications in parallel processing environments, newspaper and magazine production, and medical imaging networks [Kazovsky, 2000]. The immunity of fiber optic LANs to electromagnetic radiation makes this technology an attractive choice for implementation in sensitive environments such as aircraft [Andersen, 1998]. Furthermore, broadband requirements for that connect central office locations to customer premises benefit from the high bandwidths made feasible through the use of fiber-to-the-home (FTTH) technology. Today, the limiting factor in the deployment of advanced optical LANs is the prohibitive cost of the technology, including the costs of the emitter and receiver [Kim, 1997]. However, novel integrated circuit design techniques are helping drive down the cost of implementation, making these LAN solutions more common.

Wireless IR is an attractive means of communication for next-generation freespace serial links and LANs, where portability and low cost are a priority. The IR medium is unregulated. Moreover, IR signals cannot propagate through opaque obstructions so that signals can be confined to the room in which they are transmitted, reducing the possibility of interference. These benefits, coupled with the fact the IR range is in the peak wavelength region of low-cost silicon LEDs, makes this medium an attractive one for short range, indoor, low-cost transmission. Applications of wireless IR include connecting portable devices, like PDAs, laptops, digital cameras and even cell

1

phones to a wired LAN backbone or a computer peripheral like a printer. Wireless IR can also be used to establish a directed serial link between two portable devices, such a laptop computer and PDA.

A typical optical link is shown in Figure 1.1. The data stream is generated by an information source, which is then modulated and sent to the emitter drive circuitry as a digital signal. An LED or laser then sends data through free space or optical fiber channel to a receiver. At the receiver, a photodetector converts the optical signal to a photocurrent (i_{PD}) that is sensed by the preamplifier. The preamplifier then regenerates and converts the signal to a voltage that the demodulator uses to recover the data, which is sent downstream for further processing.



Figure 1.1 Optical communication link.

Varying link lengths are driving new innovations in the design of transmitter and receiver technology for optical communication systems. For wireless LAN technologies, end users may located be a short distance away from each other, while others could be on different floor or in another building. The ad hoc nature of these networks necessitates the use of varying link lengths. This is exemplified in the optical LAN network specifications; a 10 Gigabit Ethernet standard link length, for example, can vary between 2m to 300m¹. Moreover, the IrDA² has established standards for wireless IR links that specify that receivers must resolve signals transmitted over link distances that can vary, at minimum, between zero and one metre. Because photocurrent amplitude is directly proportional to received signal intensity, this range of channel distances translates to a preamplifier signal current that can vary through five orders of magnitude [Phang, 2001].

Furthermore, for inexpensive free space links, the IrDA has specified system bandwidths of up to 16Mbps. Optical LANs operate at higher speeds, with 100Mbps or

¹ For 50 micron multimode fiber with modal bandwidth 2000 MHz*km for the 10 Gigabit Ethernet standard

² IrDA - Infrared Data Association

1Gbps networks commonly in use today [Spurgeon, 2002]. As inexpensive optical links become widespread, the low cost and high potential for integration of CMOS technology has made it a popular choice for realizing receivers.



Figure 1.2 Basic preamplifier topology

For the preamplifier in particular, CMOS transimpedance amplifiers have become a popular choice for realizing photocurrent sensing and amplification. Transimpedance amplifiers can be used to achieve the wide bandwidth and dynamic range necessary in these applications. The basic topology of a transimpedance amplifier is shown in Figure 1.2, where *C* is the total capacitance at the input node as a result of the amplifier and photodetector. Feedback creates wide bandwidths by reducing the effective resistance seen by the photodetector by a factor of (1+A). The closed loop transimpedance gain of the preamplifier is then given by

$$\frac{v_{out}}{i_{PD}} = -\frac{A}{1+A}R_f \approx -R_f \tag{1.1}$$

so that the transimpedance gain is determined by the value of the feedback resistance.

1.2 Design Goals and Specifications

This chapter describes the photodetector model used for simulation purposes as well as three major design goals which guide the design of the topologies presented in this thesis: low power dissipation, wide dynamic range and bandwidth.

1.2.1 Photodetector model

A photodetector is a device that converts incident light into an electric photocurrent. Low cost communication links favour the use of photodiodes to detect optical signals because of their low cost, good frequency response and potential for integration with on-chip CMOS circuitry. When light is incident on a reverse-biased photodiode, a reverse photocurrent will be generated that is directly proportional to the intensity of the incident light.



Figure 1.3 Photodetector equivalent circuit.

In this thesis, we model the activity of the photodiode using the equivalent circuit shown in Figure 1.3 [Sackinger, 2002]. i_{PD} models the photocurrent generated by the detector, which for digital communication systems, can be represented by a square wave that takes on either zero or some positive value. The photodiode parasitic capacitance is modeled by C_{PD} . While current designs assume a C_{PD} that ranges from 10pF or 0.5pF or less, here we assume a relatively large photodetector capacitance of C_{PD} =5pF.

1.2.2 Wide Dynamic Range

Because wireless IR networks and optical LANs use links of varying length, preamplifiers must be designed to contend with a wide dynamic range of input photocurrent signals. Today, the low-cost free-space links specified by the IrDA requires the receiver preamplifier to process input photocurrents that can vary through five orders of magnitude, or 100dB. Additionally, the ad hoc nature of optical LANs, where fiber link length can vary, mean that it is critical the receiver be able to function with both strong and weak signals. It is the primary goal of this thesis to study ways to increase the dynamic range of the transimpedance preamplifier.

Designs reported to date ([Yamakazi, 1997], [Ohhata, 1999]) set the upper limit on input photocurrent at about 1 or 2mA. With this upper limit, a circuit with a dynamic range of about 100dB must be able to handle photocurrents ranging from 20nA to 2mA. However, because noise analysis³ is considered outside the scope of this work, we are mostly interested in increasing the upper limit of the preamplifier dynamic range while ensuring stability under small signals.

³ Noise analysis is to determine the lower input signal limit of a design.

1.2.3 Low Power Dissipation

An important method of driving down receiver cost is reducing power dissipation. Thus, while it is possible to increase the dynamic range of the preamplifier by simply increasing bias current levels, this thesis investigates other methods to achieve a wide dynamic range. The topologies presented here, suitable for low-power, low-cost applications, are designed to achieve a power dissipation comparable to that of a traditional preamplifier with a dynamic range of approximately 200µA, and a power dissipation of 3.96 mW (single-ended output) or 5.28 mW (fully-differential output).

1.2.4 Wide Bandwidth

One of the challenges of designing circuits in CMOS is achieving wide bandwidths with low-cost technology. For logistical reasons, this thesis assumes a that 0.35 micron fabrication technology will be used to realized the designs described here, which may be considered a slow technology when compared to 0.25 or 0.18 micron technologies available today. Since the goal of this thesis is to investigate and compare novel topologies that increase dynamic range, little time is spent optimizing individual circuits to improve bandwidth. Therefore, although the designs present here are slower than many of the designs reported today, our topologies may be optimized and fabricated in faster processes in order to achieve higher data rates.

The circuits designed in this thesis achieve data rates of about 50Mbps, which can are sufficient for use in the low cost IR links specified by the IrDA, or 10Mbps Ethernet standards. Higher speed applications, like optical LAN networks operating in the 1Gbps range, require that the circuits described here be optimized for wider bandwidth. However, most of the designs presented in this work are not suitable for data rates above 1Gbps, because of differences in the signal paths or complexities introduced by extra feedback loops.

1.3 Review of Transimpedance Amplifier Designs

The challenge of designing a transimpedance amplifier with wide dynamic range has been tackled in a number of ways. Traditional designs have used variable feedback resistors to implement a variable gain transimpedance amplifier. A popular scheme uses MOS transistors biased in the triode region that vary their output resistance according to a control voltage determined from an external feedback loop. (see [Cura, 2001], [Khorrmabadi, 1995], [Meyer, 1994] or [Yamashida, 2002]). An alternative method involves using an array of pass transistors that can switched on or off according to a control voltage to realize a finite set of resistances [Phang, 2001]. Both methods require careful tuning of the control voltages, as well as the addition of an extra feedback loop that senses the preamplifier output voltage levels and adjusts control voltage accordingly. Another approach, [Hayes, 2002], uses the nonlinear characteristics of a bipolar transistor to realize a transimpedance amplifier with a logarithmically varying transimpedance. This thesis presents a new gain variation approach through the use of diode clamping.

However, varying the gain of the preamplifier does not change the fact that under strong signals the system must still absorb large currents. If bias currents are kept small in order to decrease power dissipation, dynamic range is limited since the preamplifier cannot handle photocurrents greater than larger than its bias currents. This problem cannot be avoided even if the gain is drastically reduced.

An alternative scheme for increasing dynamic range involves using limiting to reduce the gain of the transimpedance amplifier. Limiting has been preformed after to the amplifier, [Nakamura, 1999], [Ohhata, 1999]. However, this type of external limiting cannot improve the preamplifier's ability to recover from large currents. Alternatively, if limiting is preformed internally by reducing the magnitude of the signal current injected into the transimpedance amplifier [Yamakazi, 1997], then the preamplifier can be made to handle larger input currents without affecting its performance under small input signals. The upcoming chapters will discuss a method for implementing this internal limiting technique though the use of current shunting, as well as novel dynamic biasing techniques that compensate for the detrimental effects of large signal currents by adjusting amplifier bias currents.

1.4 Thesis Outline

This thesis presents and compares three techniques that can be used to optimize the dynamic range of an optical preamplifier without significantly increasing power dissipation. Chapter 2 presents of two traditional transimpedance amplifier designs and

6

discusses their limitations. To address some of these limitations, in Chapter 3 we introduce a clamping technique for realizing a nonlinear variable transimpedance amplifier. We then study methods of enabling the preamplifier to handle photocurrents on the order of its bias currents. Chapter 4 describes a shunting design that can be used to limit the photocurrent flowing into the preamplifier. In Chapter 5 we focus on methods to dynamically vary bias currents. Our conclusions are presented in Chapter 6.

2 BACKGROUND

2.1 Conceptual Circuit Topology



Figure 2.1 Traditional transimpedance amplifier conceptual circuit topology

Figure 2.1 shows the conceptual topology of a traditional transimpedance amplifier. The transimpedance amplifier comprises a resistor in feedback across a voltage amplifier, as in Figure 1.2. The voltage amplifier consists of a transconductance stage followed by an internal transimpedance stage. The internal transimpedance stage is a common source amplifier with resistor R_1 in feedback. The use of an internal transimpedance stage similar to the overall topology of the circuit means the voltage across R_1 will track the voltage across R_f . This allows for excellent matching between these two resistors, which will be shown to be critical to ensuring the stability of the preamplifier. The internal transimpedance stage is preceded by transconductance stage using another common source amplifier. Finally, the negative gain of the voltage amplifier, -A, is achieved via small signal inversion after the transimpedance stage. The overall gain of the voltage amplifier is given by

$$\frac{v_{out}}{v_{in}} = -A = -g_{m1}R_1 \frac{(R_1 || r_{ds1})(R_1 || r_{ds2})(g_{m2}R_1 - 1)}{(R_1 || r_{ds1})(R_1 || r_{ds2})(g_{m2}R_1 - 1) - R_1^2} \cong -g_{m1}R_1$$
(2.1)

2.1 Stability

To analyze the stability of this circuit, we break the loop at the input node. Because the photodetector capacitance dominates all other capacitances in the circuit, the inverse product of R_f and C_{PD} gives the dominant pole in the open loop. The unity gain frequency of the loop is

$$\omega_t \cong \frac{A}{R_f C_{PD}} \cong \frac{g_{m1} R_1}{R_f C_{PD}} \,. \tag{2.2}$$

The internal parasitics of the voltage amplifier determine the second pole frequency. The second pole may be determined using the small signal model given in Figure 2.2, where C_i is the capacitance at the internal node, C_o is the capacitance at the output node, and C_f is the gate-drain capacitance of transistor M₂. As shown in [Phang, 2001], if assume that $g_{m2} \ {}^{TM} 1/r_{ds2}$ and R_1 , and that $C_f \lor C_i$ and C_o , we obtain the following transfer function

$$\frac{v_{out}}{v_{in}}(s) = -\frac{g_{m1}}{C_i C_o} \frac{sC_f + (1/R_1 - g_{m2})}{s^2 + \frac{g_{m2}C_f}{C_i C_o} s + \frac{g_{m2}}{C_i C_o R_1}}$$
(2.3)

We can tune C_f to make the poles of the transfer function complex, pushing them as far way from σ_t as possible. Thus, our second pole frequency is given by a set of complex poles characterized by

$$\omega_o = \sqrt{\frac{g_{m2}}{C_i C_o R_1}}$$
 and $Q = \frac{1}{C_f} \sqrt{\frac{C_i C_o}{g_{m2} R_1}}$ (2.4)

so that the amplifier can made stable, with adequate phase margin, if we design $\omega_o \approx 2\omega_t$.





From equations 2.2 and 2.4 we can see that ω_t increases as R_f decreases, while ω_o remains fixed relative to changes in R_f . Since the stability of this system is determined by the relative position of ω_t and ω_o , this threatens the stability of the amplifier when the transimpedance gain is reduced. However, we can remedy this problem by making R_I

track R_f , so that as the transimpedance gain decreases, the unity gain frequency remains constant while second pole frequency increases, assuring the stability of the amplifier.

2.2 Single-Ended Design

A differential-input, single-ended output topology based on the conceptual circuit presented in the previous section was designed according to [Phang, 2001]. Using a differential input improves rejection of noise at the input, while allowing us to realize small signal inversion through cross-coupling. The details of the design are given in Figure 2.3 below.





The frequency response of the circuit, when we break the loop at point X, is shown in Figure 2.4. We can see that when $R_f = 5k\zeta$ the system is stable with a phase margin of 758 at a unity gain frequency of 73MHz.



Figure 2.4 Open loop frequency response of single-ended preamplifier. The preamplifier is stable with a phase margin of 758 at a unity gain frequency of 73MHz.

2.3 Fully Differential Design

The improved noise rejection capability realized through the use of fully differential amplifiers make them a attractive choice for optical receiver design, where high signal to noise ratios are extremely important. A fully differential version of the transimpedance amplifier [Phang, 2001] is presented in Figure 2.5. All sizing is as given in Figure 2.3. The open-loop frequency response of the circuit when the loop is broken at X, is given in Figure 2.6, from which we can see that the amplifier phase margin of the circuit is 80.5° at a unity gain frequency of 75MHz. The practical maximum limit on the input photocurrent is about 170µA, for reasons described below.







Figure 2.6 Frequency response of fully differential amplifier.

2.4 Limitations of the Traditional Design

One of the major goals of this thesis is to improve the traditional preamplifier's ability to absorb large signal currents, where, in this thesis, "large signal currents" are defined as signals that are on the order of the currents used to bias the circuit. Unfortunately, the traditional preamplifier circuit described above has a number of shortcomings that prevent it from functioning properly under large signals. These problems, described below, are most acute at the internal transimpedance amplifier stage.

2.4.1 Second Stage Transistor Entering Triode

From Figure 2.3, which indicates the direction of signal current flow in the singleended amplifier, we can see that the current generated by the internal transconductance stage, i_o , is given by

$$i_o = -g_{m1} v_{in}$$
 (2.5)

While, from equation 2.1, the output of the second stage is given by,

$$v_o \cong R_1 i_o \tag{2.6}$$

Applying equation 1.1, we find that i_o mirrors i_{PD} because

$$i_o \cong \frac{R_f}{R_1} \frac{A}{A+1} i_{PD} \cong i_{PD}$$
(2.7)

when $R_f = R_1$.

Furthermore, if we assume that M_7 enters the triode region when $v_{gs7} > V_{eff7}$, then for M_7 to remain in the active region, the voltage across R_1 must always exceed the transistor threshold voltage. In other words

$$v_{R1} = i_o R_1 \cong i_{PD} R_1 > V_{tn}$$
(2.8)

Thus, when

$$i_{PD} > \frac{V_m}{R_1} \tag{2.9}$$

⁴ The negative sign arises because we take to output on the opposite side of the differential pair.

M₇ enters the triode region, reducing the gain of the voltage amplifier and slowing down its recovery time from large input current pulses.

2.4.2 Second Stage Transistor Entering Cutoff

Examining the direction of signal current flow in Figure 2.5, we can see that both i_{PD} and i_o are drawn out of M_{7b} . However, under large signals the sum $i_{PD} + i_o$ may be larger than the current used to bias M_{7b} , causing this transistor to enter to cutoff region. This is a serious problem that completely destroys the gain of the voltage amplifier. Furthermore, after large input signal current is injected into the circuit, there long recovery time during which the output voltage returns to its quiescent value as M_7 leaves the cutoff region. As shown previously, i_o mirrors i_{PD} so that we obtain the important relationship

$$i_{PD}^{\max} > \frac{I_B}{2} \tag{2.10}$$

which sets upper limit on the dynamic range of the traditional transimpedance amplifier. For the fully-differential topology presented in [Phang, 2001], the practical maximum signal current is 170μ A, with is slightly less than the maximum set by I_B =400 μ A.

3 THE CLAMPING DESIGN

3.1 Motivation

A diode clamping technique can be used to implement a variable-gain transimpedance amplifier with a non-linear gain characteristic. Additionally, in order to prevent the internal transimpedance drive transistor (M₇) from leaving the active region, the voltage across the internal feedback resistor R_I must not exceed V_{tn} (see section 2.4.1). One way to reduce the voltage drop across the internal feedback resistor is to add a diode across R_I that will shunt currents away from R_I . Furthermore, as mentioned in section 2.1, in order to maintain the stability of amplifier, R_I must track changes in R_f . To fulfill this requirement, identical diode clamps are added across both feedback resistors.

3.2 Implementation

Figures 3.1 and 3.2 show the clamping scheme used in both single-ended and fullydifferential designs.



Figure 3.1 Single-ended output clamping topology.



Figure 3.2 Fully-differential output clamping topology.

Because the photocurrent can only take on zero or positive values, signal currents flow in the circuit only in the manner shown in the figure. As such, we can install the diode clamps in the amplifier in the asymmetrical fashion shown.

The amplifier topology presented here is well suited to this clamping scheme. Because the voltages at the input and the internal node are approximately equal and have a relatively small signal swing, the two clamps have almost the same voltage drop across them at all times. Thus, to a first order approximation, D_1 and D_f will shunt excess currents so that R_1 and R_f will have equal currents flowing through them at all times. In this way, we meet the requirement that R_1 tracks R_f .



Figure 3.3 Possible realizations of the diode clamp.

A variety of different methods can be used to implement the diodes, as shown in Figure 3.3. One possibility is the p-n junction diode. The p-n junction has small signal resistance and capacitances that are highly dependent on the voltage across the junction.

These large varying impedances will cause decreases and volatility in the system bandwidth, making them an impractical solution for this application.

Another option is to use a diode-connected MOS transistor. With this approach, the bandwidth is about three decades wider than bandwidth of a system using p-n junction clamps. However, the diode will follow a square law I-V characteristic rather than the more desirable exponential characteristic obtained from a p-n junction. The threshold voltage of the NMOS diode, V_{tn} , is lower than the threshold voltage of the PMOS, $|V_{tp}|$. Because we must ensure the gate-drain voltage of the internal transimpedance drive transistor (M₇) is less than V_{tn} , NMOS diodes are the most logical choice.

3.3 Design Details and Simulation Results

We can control the steepness of the NMOS diode I-V characteristic by increasing the width of the diode-connected transistor. However, doing this also increases the capacitance between the output and internal node, which can threaten the stability of the system (see Section 2.1). Thus, the NMOS diode sizing was chosen as (50/.5), as compromise between these two requirements. The sizing for the rest of the design is as given in Figure 2.3.

Because the single-ended topology we are not limited to input currents less than $\frac{1}{2}I_B$ (see section 2.4.2), this topology is used to study the performance of the clamping scheme. The analysis for the fully-differential design is very similar, apart from a common mode rejection issue that will be raised in the following discussion.

3.3.1 Tracking between feedback resistors

Figure 3.4 shows a sweep of currents through the feedback resistors for increasing photodiode currents. These currents grow linearly until they are limited to about 100μ A, when the diodes turn on and begin shunting away a portion of the signal current. From Figure 3.5, tracking between currents in the feedback resistors in the transient response is readily observed.



Figure 3.4 Sweep of currents in feedback resistors versus increasing photocurrent.



Figure 3.5 Transient currents through feedback resistors. 150µA photocurrent input.

3.3.2 Limiting of Output Voltage

Figure 3.6, a sweep of the voltage at the output node versus photocurrent, indicates that when the clamps begin to take effect, the output voltage is limited to just under V_{eff7} for the second stage drive transistor. Additionally, despite the fact that the voltages across the feedback resistors (the signal voltages) are clamped, the output voltage increases slowly after clamping has begun. This occurs because the large current signals absorbed in M₇ drive up the voltage at the output node.



Figure 3.6 Output voltage versus increasing photocurrent for clamped and unclamped topologies.

3.3.3 Transients

Figure 3.7 compares the transients for the single-ended amplifier using both a clamped and an unclamped topology. In the small signal regime, the clamps have little effect on the response of the system, as show from the 3μ A example. For the 150 μ A example, the output voltage in the clamped case has been limited to about 300mV, as compared to the unclamped case, where transistor M₇ is well into the triode region and the output voltage has dropped almost to zero. The delay in the recovery time of the 300 μ A unclamped transient is the result of this transistors descent into the triode region. The capacitance of the diode has slightly degraded the small signal step response by increasing rise time and overshoot, but with careful design these effects can be minimized.



Figure 3.7 Output voltage transients for 3uA, 150uA, and 300uA photocurrents for clamped and unclamped topologies.

3.3.4 Common Mode Rejection

If we restrict our study of the fully differential design to photocurrents less than $\frac{1}{2}I_B$, an interesting effect is observed. For relatively large input signal currents, clamping has forced the currents flowing in R_I and R_f to track in each individual half circuit,. However, under relatively large signals, the voltages at nodes on either side of the amplifier are different. This will prevent the currents flowing in resistors on different sides of the differential amplifier (i.e. R_{fa} and R_{fb}) from tracking perfectly, resulting in a non-zero steady-state common mode signal. Figure 3.8 illustrates this concept.



Figure 3.8 Voltages at the output nodes of the amplifier (v_{out}^+, v_{out}) , common mode signal $(v_{out}^+ + v_{out})$, differential signal $(v_{out}^+ - v_{out})$. 130µA photocurrent input.

However, the non-zero common-mode voltages occur only when the large photocurrents are injected into the amplifier. Furthermore, from Figure 3.8, we can see that the amplitude of the common mode signal is only a small fraction of (approximately 10%) of

the amplitude of the differential signal. As such, noise amplified in the common mode will be substantially less the desired differential signal, so the imbalance will not acutely affect the performance of the amplifier. Furthermore, under quiescent conditions, the common-mode signal will vanish, allowing the amplifier to reject common mode noise.

3.4 Limitations

As shown in Section 2.4.1, in order to prevent the internal transimpedance drive transistor (M_7) from entering triode, its gate-drain voltage must not exceed V_{tn} . However, the threshold voltage of the NMOS diode is V_{tn} , and as such, the diode will not begin reducing the gate-drain voltage drop of M_7 until just *after* this transistor has entered the triode region. Although this is certainly a disadvantage, the clamping scheme should not be devalued as it provides a simple and effective means of varying the gain of the transimpedance amplifier without the use of the additional feedback loops. Furthermore, although under large signals M_7 will leave the active region, clamping will prevent this transistor from entering deep triode and slowing down the recovery time of the circuit.

The clamping scheme, by its very nature, cannot be used to implement a resistor that varies directly with the output voltage. Therefore, for certain applications (see Chapter 4, and Chapter 5.2), this method must be set aside in favour of the traditional methods used to implement a variable resistor as in [Phang, 2001] and [Cura, 2001].

3.5 Summary

For the single-ended designs, clamping can certainly be used to increase dynamic range. In fact, there is no obvious limit on the dynamic range of the single-ended system, assuming photocurrent is injected in the manner shown in Figure 3.1. The major limitation on this design is the long recovery time incurred when M_7 returns to its quiescent bias point after large input signals. Thus, the operating range of this circuit is determined by a trade-off between its speed and dynamic range. To this effect, we somewhat arbitrarily select an operating region of 300μ A at 32Mbps, which translates into a 5dB improvement in dynamic range over the traditional design using a fixed 5k ς resistor.

21

However, like other schemes that use variable-gain transimpedance schemes, the clamping design presented here will not improve the dynamic range of the fullydifferential topology. When this topology is subjected to large signal currents, transistor M_7 must to either absorb or supply the current $i_{PD} + i_o$ (see section 4.2.2) so that signal currents are limited to $\frac{1}{2}I_B$, irrespective of the gain of the circuit. However, clamping has been found to be a convenient way of varying transimpedance gain and will find applications in conjunction with the other designs presented in this thesis.

4 THE SHUNTING DESIGN

4.1 Motivation

One method of dealing with the detrimental effects of large photocurrents on the transimpedance amplifier is simply to limit large currents from flowing into the circuit. This can be achieved this through the use of a transconductance block that shunts a portion of the photocurrent away from the amplifier circuit. By designing an additional feedback loop that senses large changes in the output voltage and activates the shunting block, large signals can be detected and diverted from the amplifier. The topology presented in this chapter is based on a design implemented in bipolar technology by [Yamazaki, 1997]. The Yamazaki design uses current shunting to limit transimpedance gain, while the stability of the system is adequately maintained through gain reduction in the voltage amplifier. A block diagram of our shunting topology is given in Figure 4.1.





4.2 Implementation

A transconductance current shunting block is realized using the differential pair transconductance circuit as depicted in Figure 4.2. Under quiescent conditions, the control voltage exceeds the reference voltage and the block draws no current. However, when the control voltage approaches the reference, the block shunts currents away from the amplifier to the negative supply.



Figure 4.2 Shunting topology and design details (for a single-ended design).

When i_{PD} is large, the voltage at the output of the level-shifting buffer drops and approaches the reference voltage. This steers a portion of the tail current through M_{s1} . The current through M_{s1} is derived from the photodetector, so that after the shunting block has been activated the current flowing into the transimpedance amplifier has decreased significantly. By reducing the current flowing into the preamplifier circuit we can reduce amplifier gain while decreasing recovery times.

To ensure that transistors M_{s1} and M_{s3} operate in the active region under quiescent conditions, the reference and control voltage used in this circuit must exceed

$$V_{ref}^{\min} = V_{eff,s1} + V_{eff,s3} + V_{tn}.$$
 (4.1)

However, if the voltage at output node of the transimpedance amplifier in Figure 4.2 is used as a control, the maximum control voltage is given by

$$V_{out}^{\max} = V_{eff\,7} + V_{tn} \tag{4.2}$$

which does not exceed V_{ref}^{\min} , assuming that all the effective voltages in the circuit are approximately the same.

To remedy this problem, a level-shifting stage is required after the transimpedance amplifier. The addition of the PMOS source follower depicted in Figure 4.2 raises the maximum control voltage to

$$V_{out}^{\max} = V_{eff\,9} + V_{eff\,7} + 2V_{tn}$$
(4.3)

which is about one threshold voltage larger that the minimum value of the reference voltage.

4.3 Stability

The shunting topology is inherently difficult to stabilize. The operating point of the shunting block, and therefore its transconductance, varies dynamically with the photocurrent amplitude. Thus, when we break the loop at point X, the loop gain of the system varies dynamically as well. For this reason, it is impractical to use a fixed compensation network to ensure adequate phase margin. A more realistic approach to compensation involves reducing the gain of the loop as the transconductance of the shunting block increases, similar to the approach used in [Yamazaki, 1997].

The clamping technique presented in the previous section cannot be used to stabilize the loop, because it limits loop gain only after the output voltage of the transimpedance amplifier drops to approximately $V_{eff,7}$. However, the loop becomes unstable long before the output voltage has reached this value. In order to compensate for the increases in the transconductance of the shunting block, we need to reduce the transimpedance gain with resistors that vary directly with the output voltage.

4.4 Design Details and Simulation Results

If we set the maximum current allowed to flow into the transimpedance amplifier as i_{in}^{\max} , it is theoretically possible to design the system for maximum efficiency so that the shunting block draws exactly $I_{shunt} = i_{PD}^{\max} + i_{in}^{\max}$, where i_{PD}^{\max} is some predetermined upper limit on the input dynamic range of the preamplifier, and amplifier recovery time considerations are used to select i_{in}^{\max} . However, it is very difficult to design the amplifier so that it is stable for this maximum efficiency criterion, especially if i_{in}^{\max} is a small fraction of i_{PD}^{\max} .

The single-ended shunting topology presented here was designed so no more than half of the maximum photocurrent follows into the transimpedance amplifier at all times. For this proof-of-concept design, the maximum photocurrent was set to 500μ A, and the shunt block tail current was set at 500μ A.

4.4.1.1 Voltage Controlled Resistor

For the purpose of simulation, an ideal variable resistor controlled by the voltage at the output of the transimpedance amplifier was used to vary the loop gain. The voltage controlled resistor characteristic is given in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.3 Voltage controlled resistor characteristic

During a pulse of photocurrent, the magnitude of the resistor is immediately reduced. At the end of the current pulse, the resistor returns to its initial value of $5k\Omega$. The transient characteristic of the voltage controller resistor is given below for a 150μ A photocurrent pulse.



Figure 4.4 Variation in feedback resistance for a 150uA photocurrent transient at 25MHz.

4.4.1.2 Input Signal Current

From the sweep of the input current (i_{in}), in Figure 4.5, we can see that when the photocurrent has magnitude 500µA, only 250µA flows into the amplifier. The shunt block is insensitive to signals less than about 30µA, so in the small signal regime, this topology operates as the traditional single-ended design.





4.4.1.3 Transients

Figure 4.6 shows the output voltage signals for transient photocurrents of magnitude 3μ A, 150μ A and 500μ A at 25MHz. The presence of the shunting block has increased the overshoot of the system. However, when compared with the traditional design, the system exhibits a shorter recovery time for large signals because the transient current flowing through M₇ has been reduced, so that M₇ can more quickly return to its quiescent bias point. However, it must be noted a realistic implementation of this topology would exhibit additional delay while the value of the variable resistor is adjusted.



Figure 4.6 Output voltage transients for 3µA, 150µA and 500µA photocurrents at 25MHz.

As described in section 4.3, a frequency plot is not given here because the response of this circuit is different for every value of photocurrent input. Instead, the stability of the system can be discerned from the step response.

Discussion and Limitations

At first glance, one may assume that the quiescent power dissipation of this circuit has increased significantly due to the tail current in the shunt block differential pair. However, the cost of the extra power dissipation in the shunt block is small when compared to the quiescent power dissipation in a traditional design where larger bias currents are used to increase the dynamic range. Additionally, the dynamic power dissipation of the circuit remains constant for all operating points.

The major limitation of this design is the increased complexity of the system. Obtaining a stable response for all operating points is a challenging design problem. Furthermore, removing the significant overshoot present in the large signal transient response requires careful tuning of the variable resistor characteristic. Finally, the simulations presented here use an ideal controllable resistor that responds with zero delay time. Implementing a variable resistor with a quick response and recovery time is another hurdle that must be overcome before this design can be implemented successfully.

The single-ended shunting technique can be generalized to the fully differential topology shown in Figure 4.7.



Figure 4.7 Conceptual topology of shunting technique applied to a fully differential design.

For the fully differential design, the shunt block can be used to set the maximum input current allowed to flow into the transimpedance amplifier at $i_{in}^{max} = 0.5I_B$, so that the problems described in section 2.4.2 are avoided. A variant of this technique is used in [Ruotsalainen, 1999].

However, this technique is extremely challenging to implement for design that can process photocurrents of up to 2mA, if we continue to use $I_B = 400\mu$ A as in the traditional design. For this choice of bias, the maximum input current will be 10% of the maximum photocurrent. This makes the design space for this system extremely narrow, and the circuit very difficult to stabilize. Furthermore, even if the amplifier's recovery time is reduced because most of the large input current is diverted from it, the shunt block has an associated recovery time as well. Thus, large input currents will continue to introduce a delay.

Thus, two possible options exist for increasing the dynamic range of the preamplifier using this shunting technique. The first involves compensating for the

nonlinearities in the shunting block by increasing the tail current, which in turn increases the loop gain of the system, making stability even more difficult. On the other hand, we can simply increase the bias currents used inside the transimpedance amplifier so that the loop gain of the system remains constant while the maximum value of the input current increases. With this approach the design process can be simplified at the cost of increased power dissipation.

4.5 Summary

For single ended designs, the shunting techniques presented here can be used to increase the dynamic range of the single-ended amplifier to 500μ A by diverting a portion of the photocurrent away from the amplifier. Our design exhibits a 9dB improvement in dynamic range, consuming 5.61mW of power at a maximum data rate of 90Mbps. This technique promises to decrease the recovery time of the amplifier at the cost of increased power dissipation and complexity. Unfortunately, this design is very difficult to implement when the maximum input current to the preamplifier is a small portion of the maximum input photocurrent. Furthermore, stabilizing the system requires voltage-controlled resistors to vary the gain of the transimpedance amplifier.

Future work for this topology includes realizing a variable transimpedance scheme that maintains the stability of the network for different photocurrent levels, similar to the ideas presented in [Phang, 2001] and [Cura, 2001], that reduces the overshoot in the system. The efficiency of the shunt block may also be improved, so that more of the shunt block tail current could be used to divert large photocurrent. Alternatively, we may employ a design approach that involves low-pass-filtering the control voltage to the shunt block. This way, that the shunt block removes the offset inherent in the input signal by diverting an appropriate amount of current during both the on and off cycle of the input, similar to the approach taken in [Petersen, 2002]. This method may help improve stability at the cost of increased overall settling time. Finally, the shunting technique may be generalized to a fully differential topology as shown in Figure 4.7.

30

5 DYNAMIC BIASING

5.1 Motivation

As described in section 2.4.2, the second stage drive transistors for the fullydifferential amplifier sustain large imbalances under large photocurrent input. One transistor enters the triode region as it absorbs very large currents, while the other will lose all its drain current and enter the cutoff region. A simple way to solve this problem is simply to increase all the bias currents in the circuit, so that the required 'large' input signals become negligible as compared to the bias. This approach, however, comes at the cost of dramatically increased power consumption. Another way to solve this problem is to design a circuit that will increase the bias current in the half circuit where there is a dearth in current, while reducing the bias on the side where there is an excess.

The method of varying bias currents in response to circuit requirements is referred to as dynamic biasing. This technique has been used in a variety of other applications, ranging from class AB output stages [Torralba, 2001], where dynamic biasing is used to reduce quiescent currents, to analog filter design [Tsividis, 2003], where bias currents in the filter are decreased when they are not needed to handle large signal swing. This technique is especially suitable for low-cost preamplifier applications such as wireless IR communications, where reductions in cost and therefore power consumption are important.

This chapter proposes two new dynamic biasing techniques for the fullydifferential amplifier presented in Chapter 2. The first topology implements dynamic biasing using the input transconductance stage as a control voltage, while the second dynamic bias circuit is based on a control voltage obtained from in the output transimpedance stage.

5.2 Dynamic Biasing Using Input Stage

5.2.1 Implementation

This first dynamic biasing topology uses the input nodes of the amplifier to detect large signal currents. The circuit topology is shown in Figure 5.1, where transistors M_{ca} , M_{cb} , and M_{c5} were added into the original fully-differential circuit. These transistors prevent M_{7b} from entering the cutoff region, while reducing the excess drain current in M_{7a} .





The drain of M_c is cross-coupled to the output node, and its drain current mirrors the current through M_1 (or M_2). If the signal current generated by the first stage of the voltage amplifier is i_o , then transistor M_c pushes a signal current of proportional size but opposite polarity through M_7 according to K, the ratio between M_c and M_1 . Thus, when large signal currents are drawn out M_{7b} pushing it close to the cutoff region, its drain current is enhanced by an extra bias current of magnitude K. i_o . On the other hand, when M_{7a} starts to sink large signal currents, the bias current in this transistor is reduced by magnitude K. i_o . The quiescent current through M7 is given by

$$I_{D7}^{ques} = \frac{I_{TAILC}}{2} + I_B$$
(5.1)

For the initial design described in section 2.3, the bias currents in M_7 and M_1 are equal. Thus, to ensure that total quiescent current in the drive transistors remain the same as in the previous design, we set

$$I_{TAILC} = K \cdot I_{TAIL}$$

$$I_B = \frac{(1-K)}{2} I_{TAIL}$$
(5.2)

where

$$K \le 1 \tag{5.3}$$

so that

$$I_{D7}^{ques} = \frac{I_{TAIL}}{2} \tag{5.4}$$

as in the initial design.

We can express the drain current of M_c as the superposition of a bias current, $\frac{1}{2}I_{TAILC} = \frac{1}{2}K.I_{TAIL}$ and a signal current. For simplicity, we assume that M_c perfectly mirrors M_1 , so that its signal current is given by $K. i_o$. Thus

$$I_{Dc} = K. (i_0 + \frac{1}{2}I_{TAIL})$$
(5.5)

and if we sum currents at the output node, we have

$$I_{D7} = I_B + \frac{1}{2} K. I_{TAIL} + i_o + i_{PD} - K. i_o$$
(5.6)

so

$$I_{D7} = I_B + \frac{1}{2} K. I_{TAIL} + i_{PD} + (1-K).i_o$$
(5.7)

Since i_o mirrors i_{PD} , the maximum input signal current before M₇ enters the cutoff region is now

$$i_{PD} \le \frac{I_B + \frac{1}{2}I_{TAIL}}{2 - K} = \frac{I_{D7}^{ques}}{2 - K}$$
(5.8)

For maximum input dynamic range, we can set K = 1, so that the maximum signal current is equal to the bias current through M₇. With this design we have doubled our dynamic range without increasing power consumption.

For the above analysis to be valid, M_c must track M_1 . However, large photocurrents will cause large output voltages at the drain of M_c that will force M_c out of the active region, and degrade its ability to track M_1 . The combat this, NMOS diode clamps were added in parallel with R_1 and R_f according to the topology given in Figure 3.2. These clamps limit the voltage at the output, and prevent the drain-source voltage of M_c from dropping below $V_{eff, c}$.

5.2.2 Small Signal Analysis



Figure 5.2 Small signal half-circuit used for analysis of internal voltage amplifier at midband frequencies.

The half circuit used in the small signal analysis of the internal voltage amplifier is given in Figure 5.2. Analysis shows that at midband frequencies

$$v_{out} = g_{m1}R_{1} \frac{(R_{1} || R_{o2}) \cdot (\frac{R_{1}}{1+K} || R_{o2}) \cdot (g_{m1}(\frac{R_{1}}{1+K} || R_{o2}) - 1) + R_{1}(\frac{R_{1}}{1+K} || R_{o1})}{(R_{1} || R_{o1})(\frac{R_{1}}{1+K} || R_{o2})(g_{m1}(\frac{R_{1}}{1+K} || R_{o2}) - 1)} v_{in}$$

$$v_{out} \cong g_{m1}R_{1} \frac{(R_{1} || R_{o2})}{(R_{1} || R_{o1})} v_{in}$$

$$v_{out} \cong g_{m1}R_{1} v_{in}$$
(5.9)

assuming that

$$g_{m1}\left(\frac{R_1}{1+K} \parallel R_{o2}\right) >> 1$$
(5.10)

This analysis makes it clear that the addition of the dynamic biasing transistors does not significantly affect the gain of the circuit.

5.2.3 Design Details and Simulation Results

In order to study the limits of this dynamic biasing scheme, the circuit was designed with K equal to unity to achieve the maximum dynamic range possible. The details of our design are given below.

CMOS	.35 µm	M ₁	24x8/0.5
R ₁	5 kΩ	M_2	24x8/0.5
R _f	5 kΩ	M ₃	12x10/1.2
C _{PD}	5 pF	M_4	12x10/1.2
V_{DD}	2.52 V	M_5	20x20/1.2
V _{SS}	-0.78 V	M ₆	0
IB	400 μΑ	M_7	6x10/0.6
I _{TAIL}	800 µA	M _c	24x8/0.5
I _{TAILc}	800 µA	M _{5c}	20x20/1.2
		Diode	50/0.5

Table 1: Design details for dynamic biasing scheme using input stage.

5.2.3.1 Frequency Response

Figure 5.3 shows frequency response of this differential-biasing topology. The system has a 72° phase margin at a unity gain bandwidth of 78MHz. This response is almost equivalent to the response of the original fully-differential design, with the exception of a pair high frequency zeros that do not greatly effect stability.



Figure 5.3 Open loop frequency response of dynamic biasing scheme.

5.2.3.2 Transient Response

Figure 5.4 shows the differential output voltage signals for transients photocurrent of magnitude $3\mu A$ and $150\mu A$ at frequencies of 16.7MHz. From these transients we can conclude that the step response of the circuit under small signals has not degraded as compared to the traditional preamplifier.



Figure 5.4 Differential output voltage transients for 3uA and 150uA photocurrents at 16.7 MHz.

As described in the previous section, the addition of the dynamic biasing circuitry has increased the theoretical dynamic range of the system from 200μ A to 400μ A. Figure 5.5 shows the transient response of the system to photocurrent of 300μ A and 400μ A.



Figure 5.5 Differential output voltage transients for 300uA and 400uA photocurrents at 16.7MHz.

Thus, we note that dynamic range of system has more than doubled. However, as is evident from the large-signal transients above, the circuit still suffers from long recovery times after large input current pulses. This recovery time limits the maximum data rate of the system.

5.2.3.3 Recovery Times

Long recovery times evident in the transients are result of the high gain of the system and cannot be prevented through the use of dynamic biasing. When large currents are injected into the amplifier, the voltage at the negative output node drops, sending M_7 into the triode region. Meanwhile, on the positive output of the system, M_7 has been drained of most of its current. When the pulse of input current disappears, a delay occurs as M_{7a} and M_{7b} return to their quiescent bias point. To reduce this delay, diode clamps are added to the system. These clamps not only improve the mirroring between M_1 and M_c , but also reduce the gain of the system to speed up this recovery time. Unfortunately, for reasons discussed in Section 3.4 these clamps cannot completely prevent M_7 from entering the triode region, and as such cannot completely remove this delay.

Recovery time may be reduced more effectively through the use of variable feedback resistors, as in [Phang, 2001] or [Cura, 2001], to reduce the system gain even

further. Figure 5.6 shows the transient response of our design where the transimpedance gain was reduced from $5k\Omega$ to $2k\Omega$ (i.e. $R_f = R_I = 2k\Omega$). When the transimpedance of the system is reduced, the recovery time decreases as well.



Figure 5.6 Differential output voltage transient for 400uA photocurrents at 16.7MHz. The transimpedance gain of the system was reduced to $2k\Omega$ in order to reduce recovery time.

5.2.4 Discussion and Limitations

A limitation of this design is the reduced output signal swing due to the addition of M_C and M_{C5}. With our original design, the maximum output voltage at the output node was given by V_{DD} - $V_{eff, 6}$. However, this dynamic biasing scheme limits the output voltage to V_{DD} - $V_{eff, C}$ - $V_{eff, C5}$, while the minimum output voltage for this design remains at $V_{eff, 7}$. On the other hand, since the output voltages on either side of the fully differential amplifier should have the same amplitude, the limitation on output voltage amplitudes is then V_{tn} . Thus, even with the reduced maximum output voltage, the signal swing for our system remains constant as long as

$$V_{eff7} + 2V_{tn} < V_{DD} - V_{ef,c} - V_{eff,c5}$$
(5.11)

For the 3.3V supply used with the .35 micron process, the above equation is satisfied. However, for low voltage designs the reduced signal swing can become a serious issue.

Additionally, this dynamic biasing scheme is not suitable for high frequency designs. For the voltage amplifier design shown here, an input voltage propagates through one of two paths to the output. The first signal path is the usual one: Through the input transconductance amplifier, (M_1 and M_2), to the output transimpedance amplifier (M_7). The other path takes the signal through one stage only – namely, the common source differential pair formed by M_{c1} and M_{c2} . Thus, for very high-speed designs, this introduces a delay between the two signal paths that can become problematic.

The major drawback of this method is that it cannot be used to increase the preamplifier dynamic range to 2mA without first increasing the overall power dissipation of the circuit. As described by equation 5.8, the maximum dynamic range of the system is set by the quiescent bias current through transistor M₇. Thus, in order to achieve a dynamic range of 2mA with this topology, the bias current through M₇ must be set to 2mA, increasing the power dissipation of the system.

5.2.5 Summary

The dynamic biasing topology presented in this section can be used to improve the dynamic range of the differential amplifier, at the cost of reduced signal swing at the output and lower data rates (about 50Mbps). By doubling the photocurrent for which the internal transimpedance stage drive transistor enters the cutoff region, the dynamic range of the system is doubled. Diode clamping techniques are used to improve the performance of the dynamic biasing network, while reducing the transimpedance gain and the recovery time of the system. Future improvements to this topology include increasing the bias currents in all branches so that 2mA signal currents can be processed. Furthermore, a linearly varying gain topology or an improved clamping system can be employed to reduce recovery time for large photocurrent signals.

5.3 Dynamic Biasing Using Output Stage

5.3.1 Implementation

This new dynamic biasing scheme relies on a set of current-mirroring transistors that detect and compensate for an excess or dearth in the bias current at the output stage. The preamplifier topology is shown in Figure 5.7.





A transconductance block consisting of transistors M_8 , M_9 , and M_{10} is used increase or decrease the bias currents in M_7 according to system requirements. Transistor M_9 mirrors the current through M_7 according to ratio *X*. Level-shifting transistor M_{11} improves mirroring between M_7 and M_9 by more closely matching their drain-source voltages. The current through M_9 sets the current through diode-connected transistor M_8 . Because the gate of M_{10} is cross-coupled to gate of M_8 , it sources M_7 with a drain current that set by transistor M_8 according to ratio *K*. Under quiescent conditions, KCL at the output nodes yields

$$I_{D7}^{ques} = I_{B} + XK \cdot I_{D7}^{ques}$$
(5.12)

so that

$$I_{D7}^{ques} = \frac{I_B}{1 - XK} \tag{5.13}$$

Equation 5.13 leads to the condition XK < I. To reduce power consumption, we minimize the current flowing through the M₈, M₉ branch by selecting X < I. Under quiescent conditions, this circuit can be designed to consume the same amount of power as the original fully-differential circuit in Figure 2.5 by setting I_B , X and K appropriately, although a small amount of extra power will by dissipated in the M₈, M₉, M₁₁ branch.

In general, when a photocurrent is injected into the preamplifier, the drain current of M_{7b} decreases while the drain current of M_{7a} increases. Thus, because of the cross coupling of the gates of M_{10} , the drain current of M_{10b} will increase to compensate for the loss of current through M_{7b} . Meanwhile the drain current of M_{10a} will decrease in order to reduce the bias current in M_{7b} .

While the dynamic biasing scheme can prevent transistor M_7 from entering the triode region, it cannot prevent the output voltages under large signals from saturating the circuit. Because of the high gain of the transimpedance circuit, large photocurrents will force M_{10} into the triode region on one side of the amplifier, while sending M_7 into the triode region on the other. To curb this undesirable effect, diode clamps were added in parallel with R_1 and R_f in order to limit the output signal.

5.3.2 Small Signal Analysis

By removing feedback resistor R_f from the circuit, we can perform a small signal analysis of the voltage amplifier at midband frequencies. The small signal equivalent circuit is shown in Figure 5.8.



Figure 5.8 Half-circuit used for analysis of internal voltage amplifier at midband frequencies.

We can simplify the analysis considerably if we examine the relationship between $v_{gs \ 10}$ and $v_{gs \ 7}$.



Figure 5.9 Small signal diagram used to determine relationship between v_{gs7} and v_{gs10} . Ignoring level-shifting transistor M_{11} , and noting that $v_{gs7} = v_{gs9}$, $v_{gs9} = v_{gs10}$ and assuming that the drain-source resistances of M_8 and M_9 are large, from Figure 5.9 we have the relationship

$$v_{gs10} \cong -\frac{g_{m9}}{g_{m8}} v_{gs8} \tag{5.14}$$

Finally, noting the cross coupling at the gates of M₁₀, and taking

$$G_m = g_{m7} + g_{m10} \cdot \frac{g_{m9}}{g_{m8}}$$
(5.15)

we find that the voltage transfer function is given by

$$\frac{v_{out}}{v_{in}} = -g_{m1}R_1 \frac{(R_1 || R_{o1})(R_1 || R_{o2})(G_m R_1 - 1)}{(R_1 || R_{o1})(R_1 || R_{o2})(G_m R_1 - 1) - R_1^2} \cong -g_{m1}R_1$$
(5.16)

if we assume that $G_m R_1 >> 1$. This analysis indicates that the dynamic biasing network does not significantly affect the voltage amplifier, although the increase in G_m has slightly increased the voltage amplifier gain.

5.3.3 Design Details and Simulation Results

Table 2 gives the design parameters for this dynamic biasing scheme. The fixed bias current I_B was set to 40µA, while the current mirroring parameters were set to X=0.1 and K=7. With this set of parameters, about 90% or the bias currents in transistor M₇ is set by the dynamic bias network, allowing us to maximize dynamic range and increase the effects of dynamic biasing on the network.

CMO	<u>S .35µm</u>	M_1	24x8/0.5
R ₁	5 kΩ	M_2	24x8/0.5
R _f	5 kΩ	M ₃	12x10/1.2
C _{PD}	5 pF	M_4	12x10/1.2
V_{DD}	2.52 V	M_5	20x20/1.2
V _{SS}	-0.78 V	M ₆	20/1.2
IB	40 µA	M_7	6x10/0.6
ITAIL	800 μA	M_8	20/1.2
Diode	50/.5	M ₉	6/0.6
Х	0.1	M_{10}	8x20/1.2
Κ	7	M ₁₁	20/1.2

Table 2: Design details for dynamic biasing scheme using input stage.

5.3.3.1 Frequency Response

Figure 5.10 the frequency response of this differential-biasing topology. The slightly increased gain of the system means that the system has a 71° phase margin at an increased unity gain bandwidth of 85MHz.



Penguin 5.10 Open loop frequency response of dynamic biasing scheme. The system has a 71° phase margin at a unity gain bandwidth of 85MHz.

5.3.3.2 Operating Regions: Linear, Clamped, Saturation

The addition of the non-linear clamping elements has a significant effect on the circuit. Figure 5.11 shows a sweep of the total internal current, i_o , as well as the currents in the dynamic biasing network versus increasing photocurrent, i_{PD} . The addition of the clamp transistors causes the dynamic biasing scheme to operate in the three different regions: a linear region, a clamped region, and a saturation region. In the linear region, i_o mirrors i_{PD} . In the clamped region, the i_o versus i_{PD} curve begins to flatten out, and in the saturation region, i_o has attained in maximum value and no longer increases.





Thin lines indicate current in the traditional fully differential transimpedance amplifier. (b) Currents in sensing transistors (M_{9a}, M_{9b}) (c) Diode clamp current and total internal output current.

Linear Region

In the linear region, the diode clamps are off, and we can assume that transistors M_9 and M_{10} operate as perfect current mirrors. Performing KCL at the both the positive and negative output nodes, when there is a signal current i_{PD} injected into the system, we obtain the following system of equations

$$\begin{cases} -i_{PD} - i_o + I_B + KX \cdot I_{D7a} = I_{D7b} \\ +i_{PD} + i_o + I_B + KX \cdot I_{D7b} = I_{D7a} \end{cases}$$
(5.17)

Solving for I_{D7} , and noting that in this region, i_o mirrors i_{PD} , we find that

$$\begin{cases} I_{D7a} = \frac{I_B}{1 - XK} - \frac{2i_{PD}}{1 + XK} = I_{D7}^{ques} + \frac{2i_{PD}}{1 + XK} \\ I_{D7b} = \frac{I_B}{1 - XK} + \frac{2i_{PD}}{1 + XK} = I_{D7}^{ques} - \frac{2i_{PD}}{1 + XK} \end{cases}$$
(5.18)

indicating that the effective signal currents in M_7 have decreased by a factor of (1+XK).

When the amplifier is subjected to an input current and in the linear region, assuming perfect current mirroring, the currents supplied by M_{10a} and M_{10b} are given by

$$\begin{cases} I_{D10a} = XKI_{D7b} = XK \cdot I_{D7}^{ques} - \frac{2XK}{1 + XK} i_{PD} \\ I_{D10b} = XKI_{D7a} = XK \cdot I_{D7}^{ques} + \frac{2XK}{1 + XK} i_{PD} \end{cases}$$
(5.19)

so that the sum of these two current is

$$I_{D10a} + I_{D10b} = 2XK \cdot I_{D7}^{ques}$$
(5.20)

and is equal to their quiescent values. If a similar analysis is carried out for transistors M_7 , M_8 , and M_9 , we find that the dynamic and quiescent power dissipation in the overall system are equal.

Clamped Region

In the clamped region, transistor M_{7a} is at the edge of the triode region, and the diode clamps have begun to shunt currents away from feedback resistors R_I and R_f , reducing the gain of the system.

Transistor M_{9a} has the same gate-source voltage as M_{7a} but remains in the active region. The fact that these two transistors operate in different regions will introduce an error when M_{9a} senses the current in M_{7a} , causing the dynamic biasing network to overestimate the amount of current flowing through M_{7a} . This error will then cause an increase the bias current flowing into M_{7b} , above the value expected under the perfect current-mirroring assumption. On the other side of the circuit, since both M_{7b} and M_{9b} are in the active region, mirroring between them will continue without error. Therefore, the bias currents forced through M_{7a} will remain as expected under the perfect mirroring assumption.

Additionally, the diode clamps limit the voltage at the output node so that the total internal current, i_o , to is no longer increasing linearly with i_{PD} . (see Figure 5.11). The i_o versus i_{PD} curve begins to plateau. In this region, it is possible that the dynamic bias network forces more current in M_{7b} than is required to compensate for the loss caused by i_o , such that the current in M_{7b} actually begins to *increase*, (as is the case with our design) rather than decrease, with increasing photocurrent. This, in turn causes the dynamic bias current in M_{7a} to rise above its expected value under the current mirroring assumption, further reinforcing this phenomenon. Finally, the non-linear characteristics of the diode clamps means the currents in the dynamic bias network follow a similar non-linear characteristic.

Figure 5.12 illustrates this point. For the study below, the dynamic biasing network sourcing transistor M_{7a} was disconnected in order to focus our study of the effects of the poor mirroring between M_{7a} and M_{9a} on the biasing of M_{7b} .



Figure 5.12 (a) Sweep of X, current-mirroring ratio between M_{7a} and M_{9a} versus increasing photocurrent. (b) Sweep of currents in dynamic biasing network versus increasing photocurrent. A constant source biases M_{7b} .

From Figure 5.12 we can see than when M_{7a} begins to enter the triode region, *X* (the current-mirroring ratio between M_{7a} and M_{9a}) begins to increase significantly (on the order of 20%). For this reason, the network begins to force more bias current into M_{7b} than expected in the linear regime, so much so that this increase in bias current completely cancels out the decrease in the currents in M_{7b} due to the signal currents, *i*_o and *i*_{PD}.

From Figure 5.11, it is clear that in the clamping region the dynamic power dissipation of the system has increased. For example, at the operating point where $i_{PD} = 500\mu$ A, the total current flowing the preamplifier is about 2.8mA, which is 175% of the quiescent bias current in the circuit. This increase in dynamic power dissipation can be justified when we note that the signal current is still more than 15% of the magnitude of the *total* bias current flowing in the circuit.

Saturation Region

In the saturation region, i_o has attained its maximum value of 400µA, so that M_{7a} and M_{7b} are gaining or losing linearly increasing photocurrents. As shown in Figure 5.11,

the dynamic bias network has a linear characteristic again, so that as the photocurrent is being drawn out of M_{7b} its bias current increases, while the opposite occurs for M_{7a} . Following the analysis performed for the linear operating region, we can see that transistor M_{7b} will enter the cutoff region when the photocurrent drawn out of this transistor will exceed the current supplied by the dynamic biasing network. From Figure 5.11 we can see that the maximum photocurrent the system can absorb is 1.5mA.

By following a similar analysis to the one performed in the linear region, we find that the dynamic power dissipation is fixed for all operating point in the saturation region. However, as seen in Figure 5.11, it must be noted that the sensing errors described above cause the dynamic power dissipation in this region to exceed the quiescent power dissipation.

5.3.3.3 Transients

Figure 5.13 shows the differential output voltage signals for transient photocurrent of magnitude $3\mu A$ (linear region) and $150\mu A$ (clamping region) at frequencies of 16.7MHz. From these transients we can conclude that the performance of the circuit under large and small signals has not degraded as compared to the original differential circuit.



Figure 5.13 Differential output voltage transients for 3uA and 150uA photocurrents at 16.7 MHz.

As described in the previous section, dynamic biasing has increased the dynamic range. Figure 5.14 shows the differential output voltage signals for transient photocurrents of magnitude 400μ A (clamping region), 700μ A and 1.5mA (saturation region) at frequencies of 16.7MHz.



Figure 5.14 Differential output transients for 400uA, 700uA and 1.5mA photocurrents at 16.7MHz.

5.3.4 Limitations

Like the dynamic biasing scheme presented in the previous section, this new topology suffers from long recovery times after large photocurrent are injected into the circuit, making the design as currently presented impractical for higher speed applications. As described in Section 5.2.3, more efficient clamping or gain-variation schemes may be employed to improve recovery time. (See [Yamazaki, 1997] for example.) On the other hand, the wide dynamic range and very low dynamic and quiescent power dissipation of this circuit make it an attractive choice for lower speed

applications such the IrDA specified 4Mbps receiver. The transient for a 1.5mA photocurrent for such a receiver is shown below.



Figure 5.15 Differential output transient for 1.5mA photocurrent at 4Mbps. A major drawback of this topology is the increased complexity introduced by the dynamic biasing network. The designer must contend with non-linear effects of clamping as well as various operating regions for the network. Additionally, like the dynamic biasing scheme presented in the previous section, this topology is not suitable for high frequency designs. For the voltage amplifier design shown here, an input voltage propagates through one of two paths to the output. The first signal path is the usual one: Through the input transconductance amplifier, (M_1 and M_2), to the output transimpedance amplifier (M_7). The other path takes the signal through three stages – from the input transconductance amplifier, to the sensing transistor (M_9), to the dynamic bias transistor (M_{10}). For very high-speed designs, this introduces a phase delay between the two signal paths that can become problematic.

5.3.5 Summary

For the traditional fully-differential transimpedance amplifier, the non-linear differential biasing scheme presented here can be used to increase the dynamic range by 19dB with minimal increases in dynamic power dissipation and no increases in quiescent power dissipation, at the cost of increased complexity. The long response time of the system when subjected to large photocurrents limits data rates to about 40Mbps. In the future, the problematic delay due to long recovery times that can be decreased through improved non-linear clamping schemes.

6 CONCLUSIONS

6.1 Summary

We have presented and discussed three techniques that can be used to improve the input dynamic range of a traditional preamplifier without significantly increasing power dissipation. Table 3 summarizes the performance of the various preamplifier topologies presented in this thesis.

Design	Maximum Input Current	Quiescent Power Dissipation ⁵	Data Rate ⁶	Delay Time ⁷	Recovery Time ⁸	Maximum Gain
Traditional Single Ended	170µA ⁹	3.96mW	140 Mbps 10	4ns	6.5ns	5kΩ
Traditional Fully- Differential	170µA	5.28mW	140 Mbps 10	0.5ns	9ns	5kΩ
Clamped Single- Ended	300µA ¹¹	3.96mW	32 Mbps ¹¹	6ns	9ns	5kΩ
Single-Ended Shunting Design	500μΑ	5.61mW	90 Mbps	1ns	2ns	5kΩ
Dynamic Biasing using Input	400μΑ	5.28mW	50 Mbps	6ns	13ns	5kΩ
Dynamic Biasing Using Output	1500µA	5.28mW	40 Mbps	10ns	16ns	5kΩ

Table 3: Comparison of designs.

⁵ Not including external bias circuitry.

⁶ The data rate of the amplifier was determined by from the transient response. For most of the designs presented here, the limit of the amplifier was determined by the large signal response. As such, the unity gain frequency of the open loop amplifier response cannot be used determine the amplifier bandwidth. Instead, the transient output voltage when subject maximum input photocurrent was studied. Maximum data rate was taken as the maximum time for the output voltage peak to be reached, under the assumption that this condition will ensure that "the eye is open" should an eye diagram be created.

⁷ The time it takes for the output voltage to reach 10% of its quiescent value after maximum photocurrent is injected into the circuit.

⁸ The time it takes for the output voltage to reach 90% of its quiescent value after maximum photocurrent is injected into the circuit.

⁹ Maximum input current here was somewhat arbitrarily defined as the point where the output voltage no longer decreases with increasing photocurrent. At this point the output voltage level is limited to about 50mV and the output stage drive transistor (M_7) is well into the triode region, causing long recovery times in the transient.

 10 Maximum data rate for small signals (below 100 μA).

¹¹ The maximum input current here was again somewhat arbitrarily chosen. In fact, there is no obvious limit on the dynamic range of the single-ended system, apart from the long recovery time incurred when the preamplifier returns to its quiescent bias point after large input signals. This operating range was determined to be a reasonable trade-off between speed and dynamic range.

We have improved the dynamic range of the single-ended-output preamplifier by employing diode clamping to limit gain. This design can be implemented without the addition of additional feedback loops that can threaten stability. However, this technique cannot be used on its own to significantly improve the performance of the fullydifferential amplifier when subject to signals currents on the order of the amplifier bias currents. Instead, we applied it in conjunction with other topologies to improve dynamic range.

We have employed a current shunting technique to improve the dynamic range of the single-ended preamplifier by detecting and diverting a portion of a large input photocurrent away from the input of the amplifier. This design exhibits wider dynamic range and greatly improved response times at the cost of increased overshoot, complexity and slightly greater power dissipation. Unfortunately, this topology is very difficult to implement because every value of photocurrent input creates a different frequency response, so stability cannot be ensured using a fixed compensation network. Instead the transimpedance gain of the preamplifier must be carefully tuned and varied dynamically.

Finally, dynamic biasing was used to improve the performance of the fullydifferential preamplifier. By dynamically varying bias currents in the system, the distribution of currents in the preamplifier during large signal transients is kept closer to the quiescent bias current distribution. A simple version of this dynamic biasing technique was devised, that sensed the currents in the input stage of the preamplifier and adjusted bias currents in the output stage accordingly. This technique doubled the dynamic range of the system while maintaining constant power dissipation, at the cost of reduced speed. A more complex implementation, which involved sensing the currents in the output stage, showed a 19dB improvement in dynamic range with no increases in quiescent power dissipation. A combination of non-linear clamping and dynamic biasing allowed this topology to process signal currents almost three times *larger* than its quiescent bias currents, at the cost of slightly greater dynamic power dissipation and overshoot, as well as reduced bit rates.

The dynamic bias designs presented here are ideal for low cost, low-bit-rate applications where low-power dissipation is important. The receivers specified by the

52

IrDA, or optical LANs networks operating at around 10Mbps are examples of applications where these topologies could be employed.

6.2 Future Work

Because the topologies presented in this thesis are proof-of-concept designs, there are numerous possibilities for future work. To start with, the model used to simulate that photodetector may be improved taking into account the fact that detector performance degrades when the reverse bias voltage across it decreases.

Additionally, the biasing and design of the basic transimpedance topology was left unchanged whenever possible, since the approach taken in this work was to focus on the design of the performance-enhancing networks surrounding the basic transimpedance amplifier. Therefore, all designs presented here may be optimized for improved step responses and better speed. Furthermore, many of the designs may be optimized for a dynamic range of up to 2mA by changing the transimpedance amplifier bias current level. The dynamic biasing using input stage design, for example, could process 2mA photocurrents if the bias level was raised to 2mA. The same idea applies the current shunting scheme as well as the other dynamic bias topology.

Finally, the response times of both the shunting design and the first dynamic biasing topology would be reduced if the transimpedance of the system was further reduced for large photocurrents. Thus, a gain-variation or improved clamping scheme that varies more directly with the output voltage may be employed to improve the performance of our topologies.

53

REFERENCES

- 10 Gigabit Ethernet Alliance (10GEA), "Optical Fiber and 10 Gigabit Ethernet", http://www.10gea.org, May 2002.
- D. E. Andersen, M. W. Beranek, "777 Optical LAN Technology Review", IEEE Electronics Comp. and Tech. Conf., pp. 386-390, 1998.
- R. L. Aguiar, A. Tavares, J. L. Cura, E. De Vaaconcelos, L.N Alves, R. Valadas, D.M. Santos, "Considerations on the design of transceivers for wireless optical LANs", *IEE Colloquium on Optical Wireless Communications*, pp. 2/1-2/31, 1999.
- J. L. Cura, R. L. Aguiar, "Dynamic Range Boosting for Wireless Optical Receivers", ISCAS 2001, vol. 4, pp. 686–689, May 2001.
- S. Galal, B. Razavi, "10Gb/s Limiting Amplifier and Laser/Modulator Driver in 0.18µm CMOS Technology" *IEEE ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 188-189, Feb. 2003.
- M. J. Hayes, "A Nonlinear Optical Preamplifier for Sensing Applications", *IEEE Trans. Circ. And Syst. II*, vol 49, No. 1, pp. 1-9, Jan. 2002.
- H. Ikeda, T. Ohshima, M. Tsunotani, T. Ichioka, and T. Kimura, "An Auto-Gain Control Transimpedance Amplifier With Low Noise and Wide Input Dynamic Range fore 10-Gb/s Optical Communication Systems", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 36, No. 9, pp. 1303-1308, Sept. 2001.
- M. Ingels, G, Vand der Plas, J. Crols, and M. Steyaert, "A CMOS 18 THzΩ 240 MB/s Transimpedance Amplifier and 155 MB/S led-Driver for Low Cost Optical Fiber Links", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 29, No. 12, pp. 1552-1559, Dec1994.
- Infrared Data Association (IrDA), "Infrared Data Association Serial Infrared Physical Layer Specification", Version 1.4, http://www.irda.org, May 2001.
- D. A. Johns, K. Martin, Analog Integrated Circuit Design, Wiley, Toronto, 1997.
- J. W. Kim, "An Optimized ATM-PON Based FTTH Access Network", *ICICS*, pp. 1800-1804, Sept. 1997.
- J. M. Kahn, J. R. Barry, "Wireless Infrared Communications" *Proc. of the IEEE*, vol. 85, no. 2, pp. 265-298, Feb. 1997.
- S. V. Kartalopoulous, *Introduction to DWDM Technology: Data in a Rainbow*, SPIE Optical Communications Press, Chapter 7, 2000.
- L. Kazovsky, M. Hickey, "Towards Implementation of Multi-Gb/s Optical Networks", *IEEE LEOS Conf. Proc.*, pp. 15-18, Nov 1993.

- H. Khorramabadi, L. D. Tzeng, M. J. Tarsia, "1.06Gb/s –31DBm to 0dBm BiCMOS Optical Preamplifier Featuring Adaptive Transimpedance." *IEEE ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 54-55, Feb. 1995.
- R. G. Meyer, W. D. Mack, "A Wideband Low-Noise Variable-Gain BiCMOS Transimpedance Amplifier", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 29, No. 6, pp. 701-706, June 1994.
- J. P. Moree, G. Groenewold, and L.A.D. van den Broeke, "Bipolar Integrated Continuous-Time Filter with Optimized Dynamic Range", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 28, No. 9, pp. 954-961, Sept. 1993.
- D. A. Neaman, *Semiconductor Physics and Devices*, 2nd ed., Irwin McGraw-Hill, Boston, Mass, 1997.
- K. Ohhata, T. Masuda, K. Imai, R. Takeyari, and K. Washio, "A Wide-Dynamic-Range, High-Transimpedance Si Bipolar Preamplifier IC for 10-GB/s Optical Fiber Links", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 34, No. 1, pp. 18-24, Jan. 1999.
- A. K. Petersen, K. Kiziloglu, T. Yoon, F. Williams Jr, M. R. Sandor, "Front-end CMOS Chipset for 10 Gb/s Communication" *IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symp.*, pp. 93-96, 2002.
- K. Phang, *CMOS Optical Preamplifier Design Using Graphical Circuit Analysis*, PhD. Thesis, Dept. Elec. And Comp. Eng., Univ. of Toronto, Canada, 2001.
- K. Phang, D. Johns, "A CMOS Optical Preamplifier for Wireless Infrared Communications", *IEEE Trans. Circ. And Syst. II*, vol 46, No. 7, pp. 852-859, July 1999.
- T. Ruotsalainen, P. Palojarvi, and J. Kostamovaara, "A Current-Mode Gain-Control Scheme with Constant Bandwidth and Propagation Delay for a Transimpedance Amplifier" *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 34, No. 2, pp. 253-258, Feb. 1999.
- E. Sackinger, "Lecture Notes on: Broadband Circuits for Optical Fiber Communications", Manuscript, 2002.
- A. S. Sedra, K. C. Smith, Microelectronic Circuits, Oxford Press, New York, 1998.
- C. Spurgeon, Web Site, http://www.ethermanage.com/ethernet/, Aug. 2002.
- B. G. Streetman, S. Banerjee, *Solid State Electronic Devices*, Prentice Hall, New Jersey, Chapters 5 and 8, 2000.

- Y. Tsividis, N. Krishnapura, Y. Palaskas, and L. Toth, "Internally Varying Analog Circuits Minimize Power Dissipation", IEEE Circuits and Devices Magazine, pp. 63-72, Jan. 2003.
- A. Torralba, R.G. Carvajal, J. Ramirez-Angulo, J. Tombs and J. Galan, "Class AB output stages for low voltage CMOS opamps with accurate quiescent current control by means of dynamic biasing", ICECS 2001, vol. 2, pp. 967-970, 2001.
- I. Yamashita, "Latest FTTH Technologies for Full Service Access Networks", *IEEE Asia-Pacific Conference on Circuits and Systems*, pp. 263-268, Nov. 1996.
- S. Yamashita, S. Ide, K. Mori, S. Hayakaw, N. Ueno, and K. Tanaka, "Novel Cell-AGC Technique for Burst-Mode CMOS Preamplifier with Wide Dynamic Range and High Sensitivity for ATM-PON System", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 37, No. 7, pp. 881-886, July. 2002.
- D. Yamazaki, N. Nagase, H. Nobuhara, T. Funaki and K. Wakao, "156Mbit/s preamplifier IC with wide dynamic range for ATM-PON application", IEEE Electronics Letters, vol. 33, no.15, pp. 1305-1306, July 1997.
- B. Zand, K. Phang, and D.A. Johns, "A transimpedance amplifier with DC-coupled differential photodiode current sensing for wireless optical communications", *IEEE Conf. on. Custom Integrated Circuits*, pp. 455–458, 2001.